1997

Kunz and Company, dba Kunz Outdoor Advertising v. State of Utah and Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

1

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the district court erred in basing its judgment on a supposed fact irrelevant to whether the area was zoned for the purpose of allowing outdoor advertising and which, in any event, does not exist.

2. Whether, in view of the district court's clearly erroneous finding, this Court should declare the area Kunz proposes for signs ineligible for signs on the basis of law in effect at the time of the trial upon the second remand.

3. Whether the district court erred in failing to consider specific factors the Court of Appeals directed it to consider, and other relevant factors, in determining whether the property is zoned for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising.

4. Whether the district court erred in disregarding as unworkable Utah Code Ann. § 27-12-136.3(3) (1995) after the Court of Appeals had identified that subsection as controlling and directed the trial court to follow it.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue No. 1 is a question of adequacy of the trial court's

findings, reversible for clear error. Acton v. Deliran, 737 P.2d 996, 999 (Utah 1987) (findings must show that court's judgment follows logically from and is supported by evidence). (R. 769.)

Issue No. 2 is a question of law or correct application of law, and is reviewable without deference to the district court's determination. United Park City Mines Co. v. Greater Park City Co., 870 P.2d 880, 885 (Utah 1993). (R. 705-16.)

Issue No. 3 is, as to factors the Court of Appeals specifically directed the District Court to consider, a question of law and is reviewable without deference to the district court. Slattery v. Covey & Co., Inc., 909 P.2d 925 (Utah App. 1995). (R. 861, 874, 875, 878, 924, 978, 981, 985, 986, 987.) As to other relevant factors, the issue is one of adequacy of the trial court's factual findings, which are reversible where clearly erroneous. Acton v. Deliran, 737 P.2d at 999. (R. 1043, 855-56, 876, 882-83, 902, 947.)

Issue No. 4 is a question of law or correct application of law and is reviewable for correctness. Slattery v. Covey & Co., Inc., 909 P.2d at 925; United Park City Mines Co. v. Greater Park

City Co., 870 P.2d at 885.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

The following authorities are believed by Appellant to be determinative of certain issues presented in this appeal and are supplied in Addendum A:

Utah Code Ann. § 27-12-136.2(1995)

Utah Code Ann. § 27-12-136.3(3)(1995)

Utah-Federal Agreement (incorporated by reference in
Utah Code Ann. § 27-12-136.2)

Utah Administrative Code, R933-2-1(1994)

Utah Administrative Code, R933-2-3(4)(1994)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF CASE AND DISPOSITION BELOW

This is a declaratory judgment action on remand concerning pristine and scenic land adjacent to 1-15 in the town of Toquerville, Washington County, Utah. The fundamental question is whether it is unlawful to place outdoor advertising billboards on this land.¹ The background for this case is essentially

¹Addendum B hereto consists of copies of four photographs that were UDOT's Exhibits 8, 11, 12, and 13. The photographs

provided in the Utah Court of Appeal's recitation in its decision on the prior appeal reported in Kunz & Co. v. State of Utah, 913 P.2d 765 (Utah App. 1996) (attached hereto as Addendum C for reference). Included in the Court of Appeal's introductory statement is the following: "[I]n November of [1993], the town of Toquerville annexed Eveleth's property and chose to retain the 'highway commercial' zoning for the area. However, there is not now, nor has there ever been, any commercial development on the property other than the three billboards." Id. at 767.

Three large billboards had been erected on the property prior to the Toquerville annexation by a predecessor sign company to Kunz. (R. 198, 593-94, 645.) The Court of Appeals held the signs "illegal and subject to removal because Kunz [had] not obtained valid permits for the signs." Id. at 770. Still, the appellate court remanded a second time to the Fifth District Court, to determine whether, in view of the stated purpose of the

show the view of the area of the signs from the eastern lane of the divided highway of I-15 looking west with the sign posts visible (Exhibit 8) and a closer view of the area of each of the three sign posts. (Exhibits 11, 12, and 13).

Utah Outdoor Advertising Act to preserve "natural scenic beauty of the lands bordering on the highways," the land was "zoned for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising" as prohibited by the Act, and for that reason ineligible as a location for billboards. Utah Code Ann. §§ 27-12-136.2 and 27-12-136.3(3) (1995).

The district court ruled the land was not "zoned for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising," basing its decision on the existence of conditional use permits for the signs. (R. 769 -- Fifth District Court Findings of Fact, Addendum C, ¶¶ 9 and 10.) There was, however, no evidence of the issuance of any conditional use permit for any of the signs.

The Court of Appeals had specifically directed the district court to consider "evidence of actual land use or any evidence that the zoning body merely perpetuated a prior zoning designation." Id. at 769. And the district court did find that the "only use of the . . . property since [erection of the signs] in 1987 has been for outdoor advertising signage." (R. 768 -- Fifth District Court Findings of Fact, Addendum D, ¶¶ 3 and 4).

However, the court disregarded that finding as irrelevant to its resolution of the case. Further, the district court entered no finding at all on perpetuation of the prior zoning designation, despite the existence of evidence thereon. The district court then entered a declaratory judgment that the area was not zoned for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising and hence signs in that area would not be unlawful.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

The factual background of the case prior to the district court bench trial on October 1, 1996 is provided by the Utah Court of Appeals in Kunz & Company v. State of Utah, 913 P.2d 765. Consistent therewith, and supplementing with material based on the trial and subsequent court-issued documents, this further factual statement is provided.

Until the sign faces were removed under Court order in 1996, the outdoor advertising signs now owned by Appellee Kunz stood for over eight years on land adjacent to I-15 in Washington County. Kunz & Co. v. State of Utah, 913 P.2d 765. There has never been any commercial activity on the land other than the

signs. (R. 768 -- Fifth District Court Findings of Fact, Addendum D, ¶¶ 3 and 4; R. 861 ll 11-15, R. 874 ll 14-25 and R. 875 ll 1-22, R. 878 l 25 and R. 879 l 22, R. 923 ll 18-25 and R. 924 ll 1-19, R. 978 ll 24-25 through R. 981 l 1, R. 985 ll 21-25, R. 986 ll 1-25, and R. 987 ll 1-10.) The issue at the trial on remand was whether Utah Code Ann. § 27-12-136.3(3) and related law barred re-erection of billboards on that land.

Tracking the zoning and annexation of the land, in 1989, Washington County changed the zoning from "agricultural" to "highway commercial" at the urging of the landowner (Eveleth). (R. 198-199, 222-245, 253, 592, 594.) Later, the Toquerville Town Council annexed the land in question and perpetuated the same "highway commercial" zoning classification of the property that it had while its status was part of the unincorporated area of the county. (R. 595; Kunz & Co. v. State of Utah, 913 P.2d at 767; R. 985 ll 9-21, R. 989 ll 4-13, R. 990 ll 20-24.) As noted, it was also at the request of Eveleth, the owner of the land on which the signs stood and would stand, and who was the lessor of the land to the sign company, that the land was annexed by

Toquerville. (R. 855 ll 24-25 and R. 856 ll 1-9, R. 876 ll 1-25 and R. 877 ll 1-12, R. 882 ll 16-25 and R. 883 l 1.)

On August 7, 1989, the Utah Department of Transportation, District Five held a sign hearing regarding the three signs pursuant to UDOT's notice of violation. (R. 247-251, 594.) UDOT entered an order dated August 25, 1989 ruling the three signs unlawful. The then sign owner (Lundgren) appealed the UDOT order. (R. 199, 594.) It was during the pendency of the Appeal that the zoning of the property in question was changed to "highway commercial" by Washington County, and upon being informed of this fact by UDOT, the Utah Court of Appeals remanded to the agency for consideration of the rezoning and its effect, if any. (R. 199, 200, 253, 594.)

On February 25, 1993, UDOT entered its "Order on Remand Revoking Permits and for Removal of Signs." On January 18, 1994, Kunz made application for renewal permits for the signs, which application UDOT denied. (R. 595.) On February 16, 1994, Kunz filed an action in the Fifth District Court for a declaratory judgment regarding its alleged right to sign permits. (R. 595.)

Kunz did not, however, seek a UDOT administrative hearing. Kunz and UDOT filed cross motions for summary judgment, the District Court granting Kunz's motion for summary judgment and denying the motion of UDOT. (R. 600-02.) UDOT appealed.

On March 14, 1996, the Utah Court of Appeals reversed and remanded, holding that the signs were "illegal" (913 P.2d at 770), but directing the trial court to conduct inquiry into the purpose of the zoning in light of the essential purposes of the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act, including inquiry regarding "evidence of actual land use." (Id. at 769.)

On October 1, 1996, the Fifth District Court conducted a bench trial pursuant to the remand, after which it entered judgment in favor of Appellee Kunz. (Addendum E.) The trial proceeding and court-issued documents established the following facts:

1. The district court based its decision on the existence of Toquerville conditional use permits for the signs, the court stating as follows:

Due to the fact that placement of outdoor advertising signs within the Eveleth property . . . could only be

done by conditional use permit, the Court cannot find that the primary purpose of the zoning was to allow outdoor advertising signage.

(R. 769.) However, no evidence was submitted that conditional use permits were obtained. In fact, the Toquerville ordinance limited "highway commercial" signs under the conditional use permit process to a maximum size of eight feet by twelve feet (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2), and each of the proposed Kunz signs is 14 feet by 48 feet. (R. 664-66)

2. The land adjacent to the highway on which Kunz wishes to place the three billboards is natural and scenic, has never had any commercial use, other than the signs, and has no utilities to service commercial usage. This is shown by photos admitted in evidence. (Defendant's Exhibits 5-13) and comment thereon at R. 1003-04, 1027-28.) It is also evidenced by unrebutted testimony, of which the following is typical: "Q: At the time of the annexation, there was no culinary water or sewer to the area where the signs are; is that correct? A: That is correct." (R. 874 ll 14-16; see also R. 924 ll 1-19); "Q: Without water and sewer up there, commercial development is not feasible; is that

correct? A: That's correct. There would have to be utilities available for a commercial development." (R. 875 11 2-5.))

It was stipulated that the following description of the land given by the court was accurate:

[I]f one were to stand on the I-15 freeway near the area of the signs and look west and northwest, you would see basically sage and pinion foliage extending for some miles uninterrupted by presence of human activity at all.

As a backdrop to that sage and pinion foliage, you have the western face -- no, take that back -- eastern face of the Pine Valley Mountains, which constitutes the horizon west and northwest of the area of the signs, and that it is with the exception of the freeway, itself, in that location without any other indication of human activity.

(R. 879 11 14-25.)

After testifying that he had lived in the area for more than 30 years and had gone by the area "all the time. Almost daily"

(R. 979 1 12), former Toquerville Mayor Charles Wahlquist responded to questions as follows:

Q. Have you ever seen any commercial activity in the area right where the signs are other than the signs?

A. No.

Q. Has there ever been any culinary water service run up to the area where the signs are?

A. No, not to my knowledge.

Q. Has there ever been any sewer service run to that

area where the signs are?

A. No. There's no sewage up there at all. We had talked with the sewer district to get some, but there isn't any present.

Q. Without culinary water or sewage, commercial development in that area cannot reasonably be done; isn't that correct?

A. Correct.

Also, the distance from the closest of the three signs to the intersection with I-15 is approximately 2000 feet. (R. 1024 ll 2-5.) If any commercial development were to occur in the area, it would first be placed right at the intersection (R. 923 ll 19-25, R. 924 ll 1-3, R. 959 ll 9-24), and no commercial development has occurred even there. (Id.)

3. The district court ruled inadmissible as irrelevant, proffered testimony of Toquerville's own zoning expert, that "based on the standards of zoners[,] taking into account the nature of the pristine area with its beauty where the signs are [,] . . . he would not recommend that outdoor advertising signs be placed there, that he would recommend that they not be placed there." (R. 999 ll 13-19.)² The trial court did, however,

²The testimony was offered to show that signs at this location would violate the stated purpose of the act to promote

receive without objection testimony that the zoning expert and his colleagues "wanted to retain a more natural looking corridor entering into the St. George basin" (R. 934 ll 24-25, R. 935 l 1), but assumed since the three signs were already erected "that we might have to live with" them. (R. 935 ll 3-4.) And it did receive without objection testimony from one of Kunz's witnesses that a gentleman interested in developing the land in the general area "was very adamant about not having those signs there" because "he thought that would be an eyesore and that it should be left in its natural pristine condition." (R. 878 ll 13-14, 22-24.)

4. Toquerville's first interest in the annexing and zoning of the land was "tax revenue of the Town of Toquerville." (R. 947, ll 13-17. See also R. 967, ll 9-11 (of three issues, number "[o]ne is always to do with money, who pays what taxes in the

the "enjoyment of public travel, to protect the public investment in such highways, [and] to preserve the natural scenic beauty of lands bordering on [the] highways" (Utah Code Ann. § 27-12-136.2), in light of which § 27-12-136.3(3) must be read, under the decision of the Utah Court of Appeals.

county versus the city"); R. 902 ll 8-11 (referring to "the potential tax base benefits that commercial development at the interchange would bring to the Toquerville Town".) The only commercial activity on the property annexed at the request of Eveleth, the lessor of the land to the sign company, that has ever existed to pay taxes to Toquerville is billboards Kunz now seeks to reerect.

5. The district court disregarded as unworkable the Code section the Utah Court of Appeals had identified as controlling and directed the District Court to follow. The district court stated as follows:

I observe parenthetically that the legislative use within 27-12-136.3 sub 3 of the phrase primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising probably does not accomplish the intent -- the announced intent of the act or give any kind of reasonable framework within which courts may determine issues of these kinds.

I would suspect that it would be a rare case if the Court could find evidence that the primary purpose was to build billboards.

(R. 1068 ll 1-5.)

Thereupon the district court granted declaratory judgment in favor of Kunz. (Addendum E -- Order.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court erroneously based its judgment on a supposed fact irrelevant to whether the area is zoned for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising and which, in any event, does not exist. Though the district court relied on the supposed issuance of Toquerville conditional use permits for the signs, no evidence of the issuance of conditional use permits was submitted, and the Toquerville ordinance limits signs to a size far smaller than Kunz's proposed billboards.

The signs Kunz proposes to erect would be unlawful because they cannot meet current requirements for valid permits, including compliance with State and federal statutes, UDOT rules and the Toquerville ordinance limiting signs to 8 feet by 12 feet.

The Utah Court of Appeals directed the district court to consider certain specific factors and other evidence as to whether the billboards would be in an area "zoned for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising." These factors included "actual land use" and whether the zoning body perpetuated the prior zoning designation of Washington County that the Court of

Appeals had ruled failed to justify the area for billboards under Utah Code Ann. § 27-12-136.3(3). The district court, however, failed to consider any such factors, disregarding the overwhelming evidence that the land was natural, beautiful and scenic without any commercial incidents absent the signs and rendering no finding on any other such evidence.

The lower court went so far as to describe the controlling section of law the Court of Appeals had discussed and directed the lower court to apply, as essentially unworkable. The district court's errors require this Court to vacate the lower court judgment and hold that the area in question is ineligible for outdoor advertising signs.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN BASING ITS JUDGMENT ON A SUPPOSED FACT IRRELEVANT TO WHETHER THE AREA WAS ZONED FOR THE PRIMARY PURPOSE OF ALLOWING OUTDOOR ADVERTISING AND WHICH, IN ANY EVENT, DOES NOT EXIST**

As noted above, the district court found as follows:

Due to the fact that placement of outdoor advertising signs within the Eveleth property . . . could only be done by conditional use permit, the Court cannot find

that the primary purpose of the zoning was to allow outdoor advertising signage.

(R. 769.)

This supposed fact, however, has nothing to do with the question whether the area was zoned for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising. Further, Kunz tendered no evidence to show that Toquerville had issued conditional use permits for the signs. Indeed, the Toquerville ordinance limits "highway commercial" signs under the conditional use permit process to a maximum size of 8 feet by 12 feet (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2), and each of the proposed Kunz signs is 14 feet by 48 feet. (R. 664-66.)

Thus, the trial court's judgment is fatally flawed on the ground that the court's findings do not show that the court's judgment follows logically from and is supported by evidence. See Acton v. Deliran, 737 P.2d at 999. The district court judgment is erroneous and should be reversed.

II. SINCE THE SIGNS WERE DECLARED "ILLEGAL" BY THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR HAVING NO VALID PERMITS AND SINCE THE DISTRICT COURT JUDGMENT BASED ON CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS IS ERRONEOUS, THIS COURT SHOULD FINALLY DECLARE THE AREA PROPOSED FOR THE SIGNS AS INELIGIBLE FOR SIGNS ON THE BASIS OF LAW IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF THE TRIAL UPON SECOND REMAND

The Utah Court of Appeals declared the signs on the land in issue "illegal and subject to removal" because Kunz had not obtained valid permits for the signs. Kunz & Co. v. State of Utah, 913 at 770. That decision was not appealed. Pursuant to that decision, and after Kunz's motion for injunctive relief to prevent removal of the signs was denied by the District Court (R. 615-68.), the sign faces were removed.³

Since after the Court of Appeals declared the signs "illegal" Kunz had no vested rights to signs at the disputed location, Kunz would thereafter have to comply with all existing statutes and rules to qualify the three proposed signs for UDOT sign permits. Also, the district court's declaratory judgment on the second remand based on the supposed existence of Toquerville

³Though UDOT could have required removal of the entire sign structures, as a courtesy to Kunz, UDOT allowed Kunz to remove the sign faces only, until final resolution.

conditional use permits was erroneous inasmuch as no evidence was submitted to show that conditional use permits even existed.

Thus, this court can write on a clean slate and finally end this odyssey without further remand by declaring the area unlawful for signs on the basis of a clarifying rule in effect at the time of, and urged at, the trial. (R. 708-09.)

That rule is R933-2-3(4)(1994) of the Utah Administrative Code. The rule clarifies the definition in Utah Code Ann. § 27-12-136.3(3) (1995) that was otherwise considered ambiguous, in the following language:

(4) "Areas zoned for the primary purpose of outdoor advertising" as used in subsection 27-12-136.3(3) of the Act is defined to include areas in which the primary activity is outdoor advertising.

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