1997

Kunz & Company, dba Kunz Outdoor Advertising  
v. State of Utah, Department of Transportation :  
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

7. Unrebutted testimony was presented without objection that it was the purpose of the Town in establishing its master plan, zoning ordinance, zoning districts, and a zoning map, that commercial zoning be limited to two distinct areas. One, a tiny parcel located at the south end of the Town on State Highway U-17 which leads toward La Verkin, Utah and the other parcel immediately surrounding the Anderson Junction I-15 Interchange in the north end of Toquerville.

8. The Court finds from Exhibit "2", it was the intent of Toquerville Town, because it incorporated its planning and zoning to match up with the existing zoning ordinance, that any signage of the type involved in this litigation be permissible only by conditional use permit. The Town Ordinance so provides, and it was the clear intention of the Town in this annexation to substantially limit outdoor advertising signs by that process.

9. The Court heard evidence and testimony of the intent of the Town from the former Mayor, the former Chairman of the Planning Commission at the time these actions were undertaken, and from the former Town Engineer, while such testimony provides some assistance in the Court's determination of these facts, the most telling evidence of Toquerville's intent with respect to outdoor advertising signs is the Toquerville Zoning Ordinance itself.

10. Due to the fact that the placement of outdoor advertising signs within the Eveleth property after Toquerville annexed and zoned the subject property could only be done by conditional use permit, the Court cannot find that the primary purpose of zoning was to allow outdoor advertising signage.

(Findings of Fact, ¶ 6-10; R. 768-769.)

A review of the record clearly establishes the logic of the Trial Court's findings and thinking. The Court received as Exhibit "1" an engineering map of Toquerville Town which shows the annexed property, and the other zoning districts within the Town. The Court heard testimony of Kim Wallace the Town's Engineer, Kenneth Sizemore the Town's Planning Consultant, Glade Peterson the Planning Commission Chairman at the time of the master planing, and zoning of the subject property, and Charles Wahlquist the Mayor at the time of the annexation and zoning.

The Mayor established that the zoning map, Exhibit "1", was the only zoning map adopted by the Town and even though the Town had the intent to continue to work on zoning generally throughout the Town, Exhibit "1" was the map that existed in December 1993 at the time of the zoning action, and to his knowledge existed as is shown in Exhibit "1" as of the date of Trial. (R. 982-983.)

The Planning Consultant, testified that the black oval drawn in on Exhibit "1" represents a high ridge that separates the traditional rural "down town main street area" from Anderson Junction and the I-15 corridor. (R. 903:3-905:4.) During the course of the zoning and master plan planning public meetings from January 3, 1993 through November of 1993, a strong majority of town residents expressed their desire that they did not want to have commercial development or zoning in the "tree lined rural atmosphere" of the existing Toquerville Town site in the main street area. (R. 902:23-903:25; 952:12-19.) The Planning Commission and residents looked along the corridor of UDOT Highway that travels through Toquerville, and determined that there were not many locations along the corridor that would be appropriate for intensive commercial development. For that reason they



determined that the Anderson Junction area on Exit 27 of I-15 was the most appropriate location for commercial services and zoning. (R. 903:18-25; 905:5-11.) The only other area designated for commercial zoning was a very small parcel located at the extreme south end of Toquerville Town on UDOT Highway which had been approved for commercial zoning years earlier by the Town Council and was affirmed as a commercial zone during the 1993 master plan process. (R. 951:21-952:4; 976:24-977:6.)

The Town Council formally adopted the Toquerville Zoning Ordinance in 1982. (R. 956-957; 983-984.) The Trial Court received the Town Zoning Ordinance in its entirety as Exhibit "2". As part of the master plan process and hearings, the Planning Commission and zoning consultant reviewed the existing Toquerville Zoning Ordinance. (R. 906:9-15.) Specifically, they reviewed page 38 of Exhibit "2" which sets forth the characteristics of Highway Commercial Zone as adopted in 1982. This became the basis for the Planning Commission's designation of the Highway Commercial Zone for the Anderson Junction annexation property. (R. 910:5-911:11.)

Based on the Toquerville Ordinance, outdoor advertising signs are not a permitted use within the Highway Commercial zone, but only a conditional use. (R. 925:23-926:7.) The Planning Consultant testified that there was discussion in the master planning meetings about the outdoor advertising signs existing in the annexed area and how to handle them. Some property owners expressed concern and opposition to any continued proliferation of outdoor advertising in the I-15 corridor. Other owners expressed a desire to have outdoor advertising as part of their commercial uses in the future. The Planner noted in these discussions that the existing Toquerville Zoning Ordinance did not specifically address outdoor advertising

and that the ordinance needed to be amended to specifically address location and regulation of outdoor advertising. (R. 905-906; 911-912.) It was the intent of the Planning Commission to continue revisions of the Zoning Ordinance to address outdoor advertising, but that was never done. (R. 912:12-15; 933:10-14; 935:6-9.)

The Planning Consultant summarized the discussion of the signage issues in the Planning Commissions master plan process as follows:

My recollection of the issue, at the time we went through this process, was that we have a fairly long discussion about the pros and cons of outdoor advertising and the fact that there is a State statute that directs some of the location of signs along the freeways.

I did indicate to the Planning Commission that we needed to look at the State Highway Beautification Act and determine what they could, as a municipality, impose that might be more restrictive than what the State Code allows.

We talked about that fact that outdoor advertising along the I-15 corridor might impede some of the other economic development efforts that were going on at the time in terms of tourism development and that we wanted to retain a more natural looking corridor entering into the St. George basin.

We talked about the fact that the three (3) signs were already erected and that we might have to live with the decisions that allowed those signs to be erected in the first place as prior non-conforming uses prior to the annexation of the property. Those all were talked about in general terms, but again, that was not followed up on and no proposed ordinance amendments were developed or recommended.

(R. 934:8-935:9.)

Viewing the evidence marshalled above in a light most favorable to the Trial Court's determination, the Court's Findings of Fact and Judgment are supported by the clear weight of the evidence. The clearly erroneous standard is highly deferential to the Trial Court's

decisions because the witnesses and parties appear before the Trial Court and the evidence is presented there. Pena, 869 P.2d 936. Thus, the Trial Judge is "considered to be in the best position to assess the credibility of witnesses and to drive a sense of the proceedings as a whole, something an appellate court cannot hope to garner from a cold record." Id. (citing In Re: J. Children, 664 P.2d 1158, 1161 (Utah 1983)).

In applying the clearly erroneous standard, first, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the Trial Court's determination. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 935-36 (Utah 1994). Next, the Findings of Fact must show the Court's Judgment or Decree "follows logically from and is supported by, the evidence." Acton v. Deliran, 737 P.2d 996, 999 (Utah 1987); Smith v. Smith, 726 P.2d 423, 426 (Utah 1986). Finally the Findings "should be sufficiently detailed and include enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the ultimate conclusion on each factual issue was reached." Acton, 737 P.2d at 999; Rucker v. Dalton, 598 P.2d 1336, 1338 (Utah 1979). Conversely, UDOT has the burden to first marshal all evidence that supports the Court's Findings, and then demonstrate that the Findings are so lacking in support as to be against the clear weight of evidence. Doelle v. Bradley, 784 P.2d 1176, 1178 (Utah 1989); Sorenson v. Kenecott-Utah Copper Corp., 873 P.2d 1141, 1147 (Utah App. 1994). UDOT has utterly failed in its burden to marshal the evidence herein.

The evidence marshalled above clearly shows that the Findings of Fact, Conclusion of Law, and ultimate Judgment, entered by the Trial Court, follow logically from and are all supported carefully by the evidence set forth in the Record. The Findings are detailed and make reference to subsidiary facts which clearly disclose the steps of the Court's reasoning

and logic to reach its ultimate conclusion, that the Toquerville zoning authorities did not zone the Eveleth property as Highway Commercial for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising. Indeed, there is clear and convincing evidence that the Toquerville Planning Commission, Planning Consultant, and ultimately the Toquerville Town Council, carefully reviewed over an 11 month period, all issues and factors that are appropriate to a comprehensive master plan and zoning consideration, including the public's desire to protect the character of the tree lined Toquerville main street by removing commercial zoning to the Anderson Junction area, before they adopted the Highway Commercial zone.

The evidence clearly supports the conclusion that outdoor advertising of the type at issue in this case was not a permitted use in the Highway Commercial zoning classification under the Toquerville Zoning Ordinance. Not only was it not a permitted use, but even as a conditional use, the Toquerville Zoning Ordinance could not by its terms permit outdoor advertising of the size and scope of the Kunz advertising billboards at issue in this case except as a non-conforming use. That evidence is clearly set forth in Exhibit "2" received and discussed by the Court. Testimony of the Planning Consultant also clearly established that the Planning Commission recognized that the signs were preexisting and probably non-conforming. (R. 934.) Taken in total, the evidence marshalled above is more than sufficient to sustain the Court's Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment as entered by the Court.

**II. UDOT HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL EVIDENCE THAT SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS AND JUDGMENT AND THEN DEMONSTRATE THAT THE FINDINGS ARE SO LACKING IN SUPPORT AS TO BE AGAINST THE CLEAR WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.**

As stated above, UDOT's issues Number 1, 3, and 4, are indirect attacks on the adequacy of the Trial Court's Findings of Fact and should be reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. The Appellate Court should not address UDOT's challenge of the Trial Court's Findings unless UDOT has properly marshalled the evidence. Robb v. Anderton, 863 P.2d 1322, 1328 (Utah App. 1993). In order to successfully challenge the Trial Court's Findings of Fact, the Appellant must marshal evidence in support of Findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the Trial Court's Findings are so lacking in support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence, thus making them clearly erroneous. Wade v. Stangl, 869 P.2d 9, 12 (Utah App. 1994); West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co., 818 P.2d 1311, 1313 (Utah App. 1991). When appellants fail to marshal the evidence in support of a challenged Finding, the Utah Supreme Court has declined to consider the attack and the Trial Court's Findings are upheld. Grayson Roper Ltd. Partnership v. Finlinson, 782 P.2d 467, 470 (Utah 1989); Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985).

In the present case, UDOT has characterized their statement of the issues presented for review Numbers 1, 3, and 4 in such a way as to appear to avoid the requirement of marshalling. Careful review of those issues, however, show that they are issues of fact, challenging the adequacy of the Trial Court's Findings of Fact, reviewable under the clearly erroneous standard, and therefore require marshalling as a prerequisite to review.

However, UDOT fails to marshall the evidence in the record that shows the Trial Court did in fact review those elements as directed by this Court. UDOT merely presents carefully selected facts favorable to its argument rather than properly marshalling any evidence which is insufficient to sustain its burden. Oneida/SLIC v. Oneida Cold Storage & Warehouse, 872 P.2d 1051, 1053 (Utah App. 1994); Robb v. Anderton, 863 P.2d 1322, 1328 (Utah App. 1993). Commercial Union Assocs. v. Clayton, 863 P.2d 29, 36 (Utah App. 1993). Since UDOT has failed to marshall the evidence in support of the Court's Findings applicable to those three issues, this Court should decline review of UDOT's arguments.

**III. THE ADMINISTRATIVE RULE R933-2-3(4) (1994)  
PROMULGATED BY THE UTAH TRANSPORTATION  
COMMISSION, CANNOT BE APPLIED IN THIS CASE  
TO CIRCUMVENT THE LAW OF THE CASE  
ESTABLISHED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS.**

UDOT in its second argument sets forth a two-fold argument in support of its contention that this Court should apply R933-2-3(4.) (1994). First, UDOT contends that the Trial Court based its Judgment on a conditional use permit that does not exist; and then that this Court held in its earlier opinion the Kunz Company signs were unlawful on the basis that Kunz failed to exhaust administrative remedies and therefore this Court now has a "clear slate" to apply R933-2-3(4) (1994). Both contentions are strawman arguments.

Kunz has demonstrated under Argument I above, that the Trial Court did not rely in any way on the existence of the conditional use permit as the basis for either its Findings of Fact or Judgment which are all clearly supported by sufficient evidence in the Record. In addition, to allow this Court's holding regarding Kunz's failure to exhaust remedies as a basis to apply the Administrative Rule as urged by UDOT, would allow UDOT to completely

circumvent the law of the case established by this Court in its remand and in effect allow a *post facto* retroactive application of an administrative rule.

The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals and the U.S. Supreme Court have held that retroactivity is not favored in the law and that administrative rules will not be construed to have retroactive effect unless their language requires the result. DeVargas v. Mason & Hanger-Silas Mason Co., 911 F.2d 1377 (10th Cir. 1990); Bowen v. Georgetown Univ. Hosp., 488 U.S. 204 (1988). There is no such language or need to require retroactive application of this administrative rule in this case.

UDOT suggests that since the Court of Appeals declared the Kunz signs "illegal" Kunz had no vested rights to the signs at the disputed location as of the date of the Trial on Remand, October 1, 1996; and therefore this Court is free to apply R933-2-3(4) (1994). This on the basis that it is "the settled rule that the practical interpretation of an ambiguous or doubtful statute that has been acted upon by officials charged with its administration will not be disturbed except for weighty reasons". Brewster v. Gage, 280 U.S. 327, 336 (1930).

UDOT conveniently ignores three fundamental facts that defeat their argument. First, UDOT has never raised or preserved the issue that Utah Code Annotated § 27-12-136.3(3) is in any way ambiguous. The statute is clear and unambiguous in its language; it states, "commercial or industrial zone does not mean areas zoned for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising." Utah Code Annotated § 27-12-136.3(3) (Supp. 1988). This statute clearly sets forth a narrow issue of fact for consideration by any official charged with this administration, i.e., was the zone created for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising signage.

The second fatal fact is that UDOT has never applied that rule to Kunz in this case as part of the administrative procedure and review, as the Brewster case seems to require. UDOT's administrative holdings have all been based on a conclusion that the zones were created primarily to allow signage.

The third fact fatal to UDOT's argument, is that this Court has already construed U.C.A. § 27-12-136.3(2)(a) and § 27-12-136.3(3) in such a way as to make the language of R933-2-3(4) (1994) contrary to this Court's statement of the law of the case.

In Kunz & Co., v. State, 913 P.2d 765, 768 (Utah App. 1996) this Court held:

While we agree that an area zoned for commercial or industrial use in a city or town need not actually have commercial development on it to satisfy the definition in Section 27-12-136.3(2)(a)...

The Court's holding here allows signs as the only use in a zone under 27-12-136.3(2)(a) so long as zone was not created for the primary purpose of allowing outdoor advertising. This is in direct contradiction to R933-2-3(4) (1994) which states:

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